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RFP No. 1-12-C244 
Employment Practices and Related Legal Services 

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Is the cover sheet included in the 5 page limit for the technical proposal?  It clearly 

states that the table of contents is not included in the limit but does not say anything 
regarding the cover sheet.  I would assume it is not included in the limit but would like 
clarification. 
 
Answer:  The cover sheet is not included in the 5 page limit. 

 
2. Estimated Dollar Value:  According to the Project Overview for this RFP, the 

Estimated Dollar Value for this RFP is up to $200,000 annually.  Is there a definite 
price cap for proposals?  Is $200,000 a hard price cap for proposals for this contract? 
Is the Authority suggesting that potential contractors must keep their price proposals 
under $200,000 in order to stay competitive?  Will a price proposal for over $200,000 
be considered as a valid proposal? 
 
Answer:  No, the RFP does not ask for total task order prices.  The $200,000 number is 
meant only as an estimate of the annual value of task order work performed under the 
contract or contracts awarded.  The estimated value of any single contract is 
dependent upon the number of contracts awarded.  The RFP pricing schedule only 
requires offerors to propose hourly prices.  If an offeror receives a contract and is 
issued a task order for a specific task, the prices it proposed in response to the RFP 
are the ones it will be required to use in calculating its fees for the work performed 
pursuant to the task order. 

 
3. LDBE Price Proposals in Relation to Standard Price Proposals:  There are two RFPs 

for Legal Services - Procurement Counsel; one has no LDBE requirement and the 
other has a 100% LDBE requirement.  The RFP with a 100% LDBE requirement has the 
exact same Hourly Estimates and a lower Estimated Dollar Value, than the RFP with 
no LDBE requirement.   
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a) Can LDBEs submit proposals for both of these RFPs?   
 
Answer:  Yes, but if successful in both solicitations, the LDBE will only be awarded a 
single contract.  If an LDBE submits a proposal for the RFP with no LDBE 
participation requirement, it will be competing against non-LDBE firms. 
 
b) If an LDBE submits a proposal for both RFPs, should the LDBE use the same 

hourly rates in each Price Proposal?   
 

Answer:  The use of the same hourly rates is not required.  
 

c) If an LDBE uses different rates in the two Price Proposals, what if any effect will 
that fact have on the way that the proposal is evaluated? 

 
Answer:  The rates proposed by an offeror in one solicitation will have an effect on the 
evaluation of the offeror’s price proposal in that solicitation only; the fact that other 
rates are proposed by the offeror in the other solicitation will have no bearing on the 
evaluation of its price proposal in the former solicitation. 

 
4. Page Limit for Technical Proposals:  According to the Proposal Submission 

Requirements section of Attachment 02 of this RFP, the Technical Proposal will be 
limited to a total of five (5) pages, not including exhibits and attachments.  It goes on 
to state that the Technical Proposal will include resumes with names, titles, education 
and general legal experience of the attorneys who will be assigned to perform the 
SOW Services.  Must said resumes be included in the body of the Technical Proposal, 
which is subject to the 5-page limit?  If the resumes are not included in the body of 
the Technical Proposal and are instead attached to the Technical Proposal as 
exhibits, will the Technical Proposal be deemed complete and valid?  If an offeror 
attaches a full professional resume for each assigned attorney as an exhibit to the 
Technical Proposal, must the offeror also include a summary of each resume in the 
body of the Technical Proposal? 
  
Answer:  Resumes, or summaries thereof, need not be included in the body of the 
Technical Proposal.  It is the Airports Authority’s preference that resumes be included 
in an attachment or exhibit.  Attachments and exhibits are not subject to the 5-page 
limitation on Technical Proposals. 
 

5. Exhibits Generally:  What, if any, supporting documents cannot be submitted as an 
exhibit to the Technical Proposal?  Are there any circumstances under which an 
exhibit could invalidate an otherwise valid Technical Proposal?  If so, what are they? 
  
Answer:  Offerors are not restricted in the types of supporting documents they may 
attach to their proposals.  It is unlikely that any exhibit would invalidate an otherwise 
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valid proposal.  Offerors are advised, however, that if they require changes to the 
contract language stated in the RFP, such changes must be proposed through the 
question and answer process prior to submission of proposals. 
 

6. Does EO 11246, or any other similar order or regulation, whether federal, state, or 
local apply?   
 
Answer:  EO 11246 and similar orders will apply to task orders that funded by the 
Federal Transit Administration. 

 
7. Is MWAA willing to provide written assurance as a part of any contract award that the 

law firm is not acting as a federal government contractor, subcontractor, or as a 
federal grant recipient or sub-recipient?   
 
Answer:  Yes, if this is, in fact, the case with respect to work under a particular task 
order. 

 
8. Will federal funds be used to make payments to the law firm in connection with this 

representation?   
 
Answer:  It is possible that some task orders issued under a task contract awarded 
pursuant to this RFP will be funded by the Federal Transit Administration. 

 
9. Please define the "right to audit" as used in the RFP?  Is MWAA willing to waive its 

right to audit?   
 
Answer:  No.  All Authority contracts are subject to audit to verify that the contractor 
has correctly invoiced the costs of labor and materials to the Authority. 

 
10. Please define the "right of indemnification" as used in the RFP?  Is MWAA willing to 

waive its right of indemnification?   
 
Answer:  The term “right of indemnification” is not used in the RFP.  Paragraph 24 of 
Section VII addresses the subject of indemnification. The Authority is not willing to 
waive this provision.   

 
11. Does the right to inquire of affirmative action statistics impose an obligation for the 

law firm to respond? What does MWAA consider an acceptable response in the event 
a law firm does not keep affirmative action statistics?   
 
Answer:  Awarded contracts normally will not require successful offerors to maintain 
statistics that the offerors do not otherwise maintain; however, if a task order is 
funded by FTA grants, FTA rules may require certain statistics be kept.   
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12. If successful, will MWAA review, comment, and sign an engagement letter?  Or, do the 

terms of the RFP become the sole terms under which MWAA will enter in to the legal 
services arrangement?   
 
Answer:  The RFP and task order terms will become the sole terms of this legal 
services arrangement. 
 

13. The issuance, of multiple solicitations at one time and the likelihood that incumbents 
were granted earlier information, I am requesting that the period for questions be 
extended two weeks and that the proposals for each be sequentially set for 
submission one week apart beginning on December 15.   
 
Answer:  No provider of legal services, incumbents or otherwise, was provided 
“earlier information.”  In any event, the date for the submission of proposals has been 
extended to January 16, 2013. 
 

14. How were the services described in the SOW procured for the last two years and 
identify the contract, task order, billing rate by hour, total hours, and specialty 
utilized?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

15. What was the legal budget for services described in the SOW for the past two years 
and for upcoming year?  If the amounts exceed the estimates for the various services 
please explain underruns or overruns in excess of ten per cent.?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

16. The SOW for Aviation, Corporate Governance includes a myriad of legal topics 
including all statutory and regulatory matters, litigation, procurement including 
goods, services, and construction interstate compact law, and grants as well as an 
expiring use and agreement.  How is the work described hereunder different from the 
same work described under the other requests for legal services issued on November 
2, 2012?   
 
Answer:  There may be some slight overlap among the RFPs, but the vast majority of 
the services sought in each solicitation are clearly identified in its RFP and only in 
that RFP.  That is the case with this RFP and its Statement of Work. 
 

17. What are the minimum requirements for attorney and paralegal staff for responsibility 
and demonstrated capability as stated in section V12?   
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Answer:  Minimum requirement for “responsibility” for all attorneys performing 
services is licensure by any state bar association.  The lead attorney must be licensed 
to practice law in Virginia.  There are no minimum requirements for paralegal staff.  
Minimum requirement for “demonstrated capability” is a showing of relevant 
experience over the past five years, providing at least some of the services described 
in the Statement of Work. 
 

18. What specialties are required to be in the blended rate for partner and associates as 
set forth on the Pricing Schedule?   
 
Answer:  The blended rates are expected to encompass or reflect any legal 
“specialties” an offeror believes to be necessary or desirable in providing the 
services described in the RFP. 
 

19. What task order contracts were utilized in the past to obtain the services 
contemplated by the SOW?   
 
Answer:  None. 
 

20. What rates were paid for the various specialties in transportation and aviation law, 
DBE and LDBE law, Use and Lease Agreement drafting and policy considerations, and 
procurement law as referenced in the SOW and what were the qualification 
requirements for attorneys who provided those services?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

21. What is the basis for a requirement to reference five prior years of specific experience 
in the broad categories described in the SOW?   
 
Answer:  The RFP does not require five years of experience but relevant experience 
within the past five years. This is based on the Authority’s determination that 
pertinent experience within this five-year period (versus experience prior to the past 
five years) is an important indicator of an offeror’s ability to deliver the work to be 
performed under an awarded contract. 
 

22. What are the recurring standard units of work that make the use of a task order 
appropriate under the Contracting Manual?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. In any event, the 
RFP states that work performed under an awarded contract will be compensated on a 
time and materials basis.  
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23. What are the Contracting Manual References that authorize a task order contract for 
the various types of services contained in this and the other solicitations?   
 
Answer:  Section 3.8.1 of the Contracting Manual. 
 

24. What is the basis for waiving conflict of interest issues in hiring and provide the basis 
for granting all such waivers in the past 5 years?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  In any event, 
contractor conflicts of interests will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis 
 

25. What is the basis of insurance coverage limits and what prior legal contracts 
contained the current or similar requirements?   
 
Answer:  The insurance coverages are set by the Authority’s Risk Management 
Department, and have been included in all of the legal services RFPs recently issued 
by the Authority. 
 

26. What is the basis of a good cause waiver of the insurance requirements included in 
the solicitation?   
 
Answer:  Requests for insurance waivers will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis.  
Professional liability insurance requirements will not be waived.  See Amendment Two 
for update to liability insurance requirements.   
 

27. What is the basis for LDBE requirements that have either no requirement or the 
requirement of a 100 per cent set aside?  
 
Answer:  LDBE participation percentages are based upon a review of LDBE firms that 
have been or are eligible to be certified by the Authority and that are determined to be 
able to perform the legal services described in the RFP.  
 

28. What prior contracts for legal services have been awarded using a 100 per cent set 
aside?  
 
Answer: None. 
 

29. What market analyses were used for each of the recent legal service solicitations in 
order to determine what LDBE requirement would be included?  
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
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30. How many negotiation sessions in 2013 are contemplated for a Use and Lease 
Agreement that expires in 2014?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

31. How many drafts are contemplated of a new Use and Lease Agreement?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

32. What procurement services are contemplated under solicitation 1-12-C243?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

33.  What are the bases for the estimates of the number of hours included in each of the 
recent solicitations for legal services and what was done to prevent overlap?  
 
Answer:  The Authority has tried to make a reasonable projection of the hours of legal 
services work that will be required annually in connection with each of these recent 
solicitations.  However, these projections are estimates, and the actual hours of work 
will very likely vary from the estimates.   
 
 


